RECEIVED

Aug 18 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Jean H. Toal  
Acting Circuit Court Judge

C.A. No: 2019-CP-40-06243  
Appellate Case No. 2021-000648

Peter D. Protopapas, as Receiver for Starr Davis Company, Inc. and Starr Davis  
Company of S.C., Inc..... Respondents,

v.

Travelers Casualty and Surety Company f/k/a The Aetna Casualty and Surety Company;  
The Standard Fire Insurance Company; St. Paul Fire and Marine Insurance Company;  
The Employers' Fire Insurance Company; Southeastern Agency Group and M.I.A.

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

This is an appeal of an order granting partial summary judgment for Respondents, Starr Davis Company, Inc. and Starr Davis Company of S.C., Inc. (together, “Starr Davis”) against two Travelers Indemnity Company subsidiaries, The Aetna Casualty and Surety Company (“Aetna”) and The Standard Fire Insurance Company (“Standard Fire”) (together, “Travelers”).

The issues for appellate review are as follows:

1. Whether the circuit court erred by utilizing summary judgment to declare insurance policy rights and obligations without actually relying on the insurance policies themselves and despite the existence of facts as to which Travelers demonstrated (i) a genuine dispute, (ii) the lack of any evidentiary support, and/or (iii) the legitimate need for additional discovery.

2. Whether the circuit court erred by declaring insurance policy rights and obligations that directly contradict the parties’ binding, post-policy contract, specifically a claims-handling agreement the parties negotiated and executed after the insurance policies expired.

3. Whether the circuit court erred by declaring insurance policy rights and obligations that are contrary to applicable law.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This case involves a dispute over the application of numerous commercial liability insurance policies allegedly issued by Travelers to Starr Davis prior to 1985. Many of the alleged policies are missing, while a significant number of other policies are incomplete. Largely because of this circumstance, in 1985, after the policies had expired and Starr Davis had begun to be sued by asbestos claimants, the parties negotiated and executed a claims handling agreement (“1985 Agreement”) that controls several aspects of how the policies apply to such

claims, as well as determines the span of years over which the Travelers policies were issued and when Starr Davis had coverage from other insurers or was self-insured. R. p. \_\_ (Ex. 9).

At the heart of this appeal is whether the circuit court erred in declaring rights and obligations under the alleged insurance policies by way of summary judgment. The circuit court entered these declarations despite only two (incomplete) policies being put into the record by Starr Davis, and without holding Starr Davis to its burden of proving the existence, terms and conditions of the other alleged policies. It also granted partial summary judgment despite the presence of numerous additional, genuinely disputed material facts, lack of evidentiary support, and the clear need for additional discovery. In addition, it chose to ignore completely the terms of the 1985 Agreement, which expressly contradict certain of the declarations. Finally, and in any event, many of the declarations are inconsistent with the law the circuit court purported to apply (South Carolina law), with the errors being based, in large part, on the court having relied nearly verbatim on an inapplicable, non-final discovery-related sanctions order entered in a separate tort case involving different parties and different insurance policies.

\* \* \* \* \*

Starr Davis, through its receiver, Peter D. Protopapas (“Receiver”), filed its original Complaint on November 6, 2019. R. p. \_\_ (Compl.). The Complaint named as defendants Travelers and several other insurance companies, as well as Starr Davis’ former insurance broker, Merrimon Insurance Agency Inc., and a few asbestos claimants, some of whom were identified as North Carolina residents. R. p. \_\_ (*Id.* ¶¶ 4-8, 11, 15). The case was removed to federal court, but was subsequently remanded. R. p. \_\_ (Remand Order).

A First Amended Complaint—the operative pleading here—was filed on August 6, 2020. R. p. \_\_ (First Am. Compl.). It seeks in part a judicial declaration that Travelers and the other

insurer-defendants are required to defend Starr Davis with respect to asbestos claims. It also seeks various additional judicial declarations interpreting the insurer-defendants' indemnity obligations. R. p. \_\_\_ (*Id.* at Second and Third Cause of Action).

Travelers filed an Answer along with Cross-Claims asserting the right to indemnification and contribution. R. p. \_\_\_ (Travelers Answer). Travelers also filed Counterclaims whereby it seeks judicial declarations regarding the parties' rights and responsibilities under the alleged insurance policies, including how certain of those rights and obligations are superseded by the 1985 Agreement. R. p. \_\_\_ (*Id.* at 18-23). That Agreement specifies the years for which Starr Davis agreed that Travelers did (and did not) provide insurance coverage for asbestos claims, the method by which defense and indemnity payments made under the insurance policies are to be allocated between the parties, and that Starr Davis is required to reimburse Travelers for certain payments. R. p. \_\_\_ (*Id.* at 19-21; Ex. 9).

Starr Davis and Travelers served written discovery requests on one another. R. p. \_\_\_ (Travelers Opp. at 8 & Exs. C-G). Travelers challenged Starr Davis' discovery responses as incomplete and evasive, and further contested, among other things, Starr Davis' claim of "privilege" as to its communications with Merrimon (a broker) and the underlying asbestos claimants (Starr Davis' litigation adversaries). R. p. \_\_\_ (Exs. H & I - deficiency letters). Starr Davis' deficient responses created the need for further discovery, including with regard to Starr Davis' revelation it had secretly destroyed relevant evidence. *See* R. p. \_\_\_ (Exs. K & Q).

Fully aware of the significant disputed factual issues and the need for further discovery, Starr Davis nevertheless pressed for a summary judgment hearing. In fact, Starr Davis had initially moved for partial summary judgment against Travelers on February 28, 2020, just a few months after filing its original Complaint. R. p. \_\_\_ (Original PSJ Mot.). In its Motion, Starr

Davis asked the circuit court to “adopt . . . in full” as its summary judgment order a discovery-related sanctions order entered in a different case, involving different insurers, a different insured (Covil Corporation), based in a different state, and different policies (hereinafter, “Covil Sanctions Order”). R. p. \_\_ (*Id.* at 3). Starr Davis revised its motion on June 23, 2020 (R. p. \_\_ (6/23/20 Brief)), and again on August 21, 2020 (8/21/20 Brief (“SD Br.”)). The last revision is the “operative” motion (“Motion”) for purposes of this appeal. R. p. \_\_ (SD Br. at 2).

In its Motion, Starr Davis reiterated its request that the circuit court “adopt in full its prior holdings” in the Covil Sanctions Order and hold that “the law of South Carolina as set forth in [that order] applies to the policies issued to Starr Davis.” R. p. \_\_ (*Id.* at 14 & 20). Starr Davis attached to its Motion only two of the Travelers insurance policies allegedly issued to Starr Davis, both of which were incomplete. R. p. \_\_ (Exs. 4 & 5). As for numerous other alleged Travelers policies, Starr Davis attempted to rely on self-serving, inadmissible “charts” created by its counsel that summarized certain terms of numerous contested policies. R. p. \_\_ (Exs. 10-15). Based on this inadmissible, incomplete, and disputed information, Starr Davis asked the circuit court to “declare the essential terms and conditions” of the policies, including all policies that are “missing or incomplete.” R. p. \_\_ (FAC at 8; SD Br. at 4-5 & n.5, and Exs. 4, 5, and 10-15).

Travelers filed its opposition on January 21, 2021. R. p. \_\_ (Opp.). It pointed out that the Motion was premature given the contested, incomplete and ongoing discovery; that genuine issues of fact existed regarding the alleged policies; that the 1985 Agreement precluded certain of the declarations sought; that the Covil Sanctions Order, which Starr Davis had asked the circuit court to simply adopt, was based on an inapplicable discovery-related sanctions order issued in a case to which Travelers was not a party; and that many of the declarations sought by Starr Davis were legally unsupportable. *See* R. p. \_\_ (*Id.* at 2-4). Travelers included a Rule

56(f), SCRCF, declaration describing the numerous factual issues on which discovery was needed to allow it to respond properly and fully to the Motion. R. p. \_\_ (Id. at 2-3 & Ex. Z).

Despite the existence of factual disputes and the clear need for further discovery, and without regard to the terms of the 1985 Agreement, the circuit court granted the Motion during a hearing held on January 25, 2021. R. p. \_\_ (Hr'g Tr. at 58-59). Starr Davis was thereafter directed by the circuit court to draft and submit a proposed order to the circuit court; Travelers objected to that lengthy draft order on February 8, 2021. R. p. \_\_ (Proposed Order; Objections). Starr Davis then submitted a revised proposed order, to which Travelers objected on February 22, 2021.<sup>1</sup> R. p. \_\_ (Revised Proposed Order; Objections thereto). The circuit court signed the revised proposed order on March 3, 2021, adopting nearly verbatim what Starr Davis' counsel wrote as the opinion of the court ("Order"). R. p. \_\_ (Order); cf. R. p. \_\_ (Revised Proposed Order). Travelers timely moved for reconsideration of the Order, and Starr Davis filed a response in opposition. R. p. \_\_ (Mot. for Reconsideration and Opp.). The circuit court denied the motion for reconsideration on May 19, 2021. R. p. \_\_ (Order). Travelers timely filed its notice of appeal on June 18, 2021. R. p. \_\_ (Notice).

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

When, as here, the circuit court grants summary judgment on a question of law, the Court of Appeals reviews the circuit court's ruling de novo. See *Stoneledge at Lake Keowee Owners' Ass'n v. Clear View Constr.*, 413 S.C. 615, 620, 776 S.E.2d 426, 429 (Ct. App. 2015) (citing *Town of Summerville v. City of N. Charleston*, 378 S.C. 107, 110, 662 S.E.2d 40, 41 (2008)). No deference is accorded the circuit court's decision. See *Mangal v. State*, 421 S.C. 85, 91, 805

---

<sup>1</sup> Travelers included with its objections a comparison of the original proposed order and revised proposed order, which highlighted the fact that Starr Davis simply deleted citations to the Civil Sanctions Order, but did not otherwise alter the circuit court's adoption of that order. R. p. \_\_ (attach. to Objections).

S.E.2d 568, 571 & n.4 (2017) (“[A]ppellate courts review questions of law de novo, with no deference to trial courts.”). The Court of Appeals thus applies the same standard which governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC, *i.e.*, summary judgment is only proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *See Englert, Inc. v. LeafGuard USA, Inc.*, 377 S.C. 129, 659 S.E.2d 496 (2008).

“In determining whether any triable issue of fact exists, the evidence and all inferences which can reasonably be drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” *Quail Hill, LLC v. Cnty. of Richland*, 387 S.C. 223, 235, 692 S.E.2d 499, 505 (2010) (citation omitted). “[E]very benefit of the doubt” is given to the party opposing summary judgment. *See Watters v. Terminix Service, Inc.*, 376 S.C. 632, 635, 658 S.E.2d 110, 112 (Ct. App. 2008). Thus, “[a]t the summary judgment stage of the proceedings, it is only necessary for the nonmoving party to submit a scintilla of evidence warranting determination by a [factfinder] for summary judgment to be denied.” *Hill v. York Cnty.y Sheriff’s Dep’t*, 313 S.C. 303, 308, 437 S.E.2d 179, 182 (Ct. App. 1993).

Summary judgment “must not be granted until the opposing party has had a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery.” *Dawkins v. Fields*, 354 S.C. 58, 69, 580 S.E.2d 433, 439 (2003). *See also Durkin v. Hansen*, 313 S.C. 343, 346, 437 S.E.2d 550, 552 (Ct. App. 1993) (summary judgment is appropriate “only when the pleadings, depositions, interrogatory answers, admissions, and affidavits show that there is no genuine issue of material fact”). Thus, where discovery is ongoing and evidence is likely to exist that is necessary to the non-moving party’s opposition, any consideration of summary judgment should be postponed until that evidence can be marshalled for the court’s review. *See Schmidt v. Courtney*, 357 S.C. 310, 319, 327, 592 S.E.2d 326, 331, 335 (2003) (noting that “[b]ecause summary judgment is a drastic remedy, it

must not be granted until the opposing party has had a ‘full and fair opportunity to complete discovery,’” and finding trial court erred in granting summary judgment because additional discovery was needed) (citations omitted). Moreover, “[s]ummary judgment is not appropriate where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law.” *Id.* at 319, 592 S.E.2d at 331 (collecting cases). Thus, “[e]ven when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied.” *Id.* at 320, 592 S.E.2d at 331 (collecting cases).

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Both of the Starr Davis entities were based in Greensboro, North Carolina. R. p. \_\_ (Ex. T); R. p. \_\_ (FAC ¶¶ 2-3). A Greensboro address is included on the Travelers policies as Starr Davis’ main office. R. p. \_\_ (Exs. 4 & 5; Exs. A & B – policies). Starr Davis’ broker, Merrimon, was also based in North Carolina. R. p. \_\_ (Ex. S at TRAV-SD\_007970; Ex. T; FAC ¶ 8). Nothing in the record indicates that any Starr Davis policies were underwritten or issued outside of North Carolina.

Promotional materials produced by Starr Davis highlight its numerous projects in North Carolina. R. p. \_\_ (Exs. 6 & 7 – attach. to subpoenas to Travelers). Travelers’ underwriting documentation describes [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]. R. p. \_\_ (Ex. T).

Starr Davis allegedly supplied, installed, replaced, repaired, removed, and/or used insulation materials, including at times asbestos-containing products. R. p. \_\_ (FAC ¶ 19). But historical records indicate that [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED] R. p. \_\_ (Exs. R-V). Those records also explain that [REDACTED]

[REDACTED] R. p. \_\_ (Ex. T). Other historical

documents report that [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]. R. p. \_\_ (Exs. R & U). Starr Davis also informed Travelers that [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED] R. p. \_\_

(Exs. R, T & V).

In or around 1980, [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]. R. p. \_\_ (Ex. S). [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED] *Id.* [REDACTED]

[REDACTED] *Id.* But Merrimon never located or

provided Travelers with any pre-1975 policies. *See* R. p. \_\_ (Ex. Q, Myers Aff.).

By the mid-1980s, “a dispute [arose] with regard to the responsibility of providing for the defense and disposition of Starr Davis’ asbestos claims,” such that Starr Davis and Travelers negotiated and signed the 1985 Agreement “to provide for the effective management of [those claims].” R. p. \_\_ (Ex. 9). In that Agreement, the parties stipulated and agreed that Travelers only provided insurance coverage to Starr Davis from January 1, 1959 to June 30, 1985. *Id.* Starr Davis expressly acknowledged in the Agreement that it “has been insured by *other* insurers or has been *self-insured* for the remainder of its existence.” *Id.* (emphasis added). The 1985 Agreement also specified how Starr Davis’s asbestos liabilities would be allocated and shared for both defense and indemnity under the alleged policies. R. p. \_\_ (*Id.* ¶¶ 3-5). Specifically, the Agreement provided that Travelers would defend Starr Davis where any portion of alleged

asbestos exposure fell within a period of a Travelers policy that had not been exhausted by payment of indemnity, but that Travelers' liability for the cost of defense would be limited based on an allocation formula that compares the number of years of alleged exposure during Travelers' coverage periods to the total number of years of alleged exposure. R. p. \_\_\_ (*Id.* ¶ 3). And Starr Davis confirmed that this allocation formula would apply to Travelers' "liability for the cost of disposition of the asbestos claims." *Id.* ¶ 4.

The 1985 Agreement provided that it could not be used in court "as support for the position being asserted by either party hereto in connection with the meaning, intent or construction of any insurance policy or policies issued by [Travelers] or purchased by Starr Davis." R. p. \_\_\_ (*Id.* ¶ 1). The Agreement did *not*, however, prohibit or restrict its use for any other reason, including the most obvious purpose—a legal action to enforce its terms. R. p. \_\_\_ (1985 Agreement). The Agreement further provided that it "may be terminated by either party hereto upon the giving of 90 days' written notice to the other party." R. p. \_\_\_ (*id.* ¶ 6). Starr Davis has not offered any evidence whatsoever that the Agreement has ever been terminated, and Travelers is not aware of any such evidence. *See* R. p. \_\_\_ (Opp. at 16; Ex. K, at No. 9).<sup>2</sup>

Starr Davis filed for bankruptcy protection in 1993, but the bankruptcy petition was eventually dismissed, after which Starr Davis dissolved in 1996-97. R. p. \_\_\_ (FAC ¶¶ 20-21). As was revealed in preliminary discovery in this action, George Gibson, Starr Davis' former Chief Financial Officer, destroyed substantially all of Starr Davis's records, without any notice to Travelers, in 1999. R. p. \_\_\_ (Ex. K & L - Starr Davis' Suppl. Discovery Resp.). Similarly,

---

<sup>2</sup> Ironically, the Receiver's discovery responses stated that Starr Davis is not currently in a position to state whether or not the 1985 Agreement remains in force, in part, because "[d]iscovery is ongoing." R. p. \_\_\_ (Ex. K at 9).

Starr Davis' broker, Merrimon, did not retain the originals or copies of any Starr Davis policies. R. p. \_\_ (Ex. Q, Myers Aff. ¶¶ 5-8).

Mr. Protopapas was appointed Receiver for Starr Davis in February 2019, after new asbestos personal injury complaints began to be filed against Starr Davis. R. p. \_\_ (FAC ¶ 23). Shortly thereafter, in May and June, 2019, Travelers sent the Receiver, at his request, copies of all insurance policy documentation it could locate that reflected policies potentially issued to Starr Davis by Travelers' predecessor companies, Aetna and Standard Fire. R. p. \_\_ (Exs. X & Y). Travelers also provided the Receiver with the 1985 Agreement. R. p. \_\_ (Ex. 9). Subject to a reservation of rights, Travelers has been defending Starr Davis against asbestos claims tendered by the Receiver to Travelers, and has paid all defense and indemnity amounts incurred to date in connection with those claims. R. p. \_\_ (Answer to FAC ¶ 42; Hr'g Tr. at 22 & 29). Starr Davis has not followed the allocation rules to which it agreed in the 1985 Agreement, however, and has not reimbursed Travelers for any defense or indemnity amounts as required by the Agreement.

### **ARGUMENT**

In its Motion, Starr Davis asked the circuit court to ignore disputed facts, rely on entirely unsupported facts, sidestep the clear need for further discovery, and issue declarations regarding the parties' obligations under policies allegedly issued by Travelers to Starr Davis in a vacuum, without reference to the actual policy language or evidence of how and when the claimants' injuries occurred. Starr Davis also asked the court to disregard the terms of the 1985 Agreement. Finally, Starr Davis urged the circuit court to render declarations that are contrary to the terms of the policies and applicable law by "adopting in full" a non-final, heavily-flawed "discovery sanctions" order issued *in a tort case* to which neither Travelers nor Starr Davis were parties and as to which no appellate review has been permitted to date.

Unfortunately, the circuit court agreed to Starr Davis' requests and thereby made factual findings and issued declarations that must be reversed by this Court.

**I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY ENTERING PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT DESPITE THE EXISTENCE OF GENUINELY DISPUTED MATERIAL FACTS, THE LACK OF SUPPORTING ADMISSIBLE EVIDENCE, AND THE NEED TO COMPLETE RELEVANT DISCOVERY.**

The circuit court committed reversible error by choosing to interpret and declare rights and obligations under the alleged Travelers policies without Starr Davis having met its burden of establishing the existence, terms and conditions of the alleged policies and based on material facts that were genuinely contradicted by the existing record, lacked any admissible supporting evidence, and/or required further discovery.

**A. The Circuit Court Ignored Starr Davis' Failure to Establish the Existence, Terms and Conditions of the Alleged Policies and Issued Declarations Without Regard to All of the Actual Policy Language.**

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