RECEIVED

Mar 30 2022

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Jean Hofer Toal, Chief Justice (Ret.), Acting Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019-CP-40-06243  
Appellate Case No. 2021-000648

---

Peter D. Protopapas, as Receiver for Starr Davis Company, Inc. and Starr Davis  
Company of S.C., Inc., Plaintiffs/Respondents,

v.

Travelers Casualty and Surety Company f/k/a The Aetna Casualty and Surety  
Company; The Standard Fire Insurance Company; St. Paul Fire and Marine Insurance  
Company; The Employers' Fire Insurance Company; Southeastern Agency Group

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

**evidence or used for any purpose in any court of law as support for the position being asserted by either party hereto in connection with the meaning, intent or construction of any insurance policy or policies issued by [Travelers] or purchased by Starr Davis.”** (R. p. 659, Interim Claims Handling Agreement at 2 (emphasis added).)

The Circuit Court held a hearing to address the parties’ key arguments. (R. p. 144–229, Jan. 25, 2021 Hr’g Tr.) On March 4, 2021, the Circuit Court granted Starr Davis’s motion, finding no genuine dispute that Travelers had issued forty years of policies to Starr Davis. (R. p. 14–17, Order at 13–16.)

The Circuit Court rejected Travelers’ arguments that further discovery was necessary to declare the terms of the policies. (R. pp. 13–14, 20–21, Order at 12–13, 19–20.) The Circuit Court also found that the Interim Claims Handling Agreement between Aetna and Starr Davis was inadmissible by its own terms and could not be considered for the purpose of declaring the existence, meaning, or application of the relevant policies. (R. pp. 7–8, 13, 22, Order at 6–7, 12, 21.) The Circuit Court further rejected Travelers’ argument that the Interim Claims Handling Agreement somehow negated the existence of the pre-1959 policies, or required time-on-the-risk allocation for operations claims contrary to the standard language of Travelers’ CGL policies. Whether and to what extent the Interim Claims Handling Agreement may be enforceable or apply to particular coverage scenarios was not before the Circuit Court on Starr Davis’s motion for summary judgment and was not decided.

Finally, having declared the terms of the Starr Davis policies, the Circuit Court granted Starr Davis’s request to declare its legal rights under those policies under South Carolina law. (R. pp. 22–33, Order at 21–32.) These declarations were consistent with the Circuit Court’s

previous policy interpretation rulings in prior asbestos litigation involving similar insurance policies.

Starr Davis's motion included, among other things, demonstrative charts prepared by Starr Davis's counsel identifying the Starr Davis policies by policy number, policy period, per-occurrence limits, and aggregate limits. (R. pp. 670–83, Renewed Supplemental MSJ Exhibits 14, 15.) These charts, which were intended to aid the Circuit Court by summarizing Starr Davis's extensive evidence, were based on documents produced by Travelers. The charts identified each Travelers document by bates number. (R. pp. 670–83, Renewed Supplemental MSJ Exhibits 14, 15.) Travelers objected to the use of these exhibits because they did not include the source documents that were identified in the summary charts. For the sake of completeness, Starr Davis thereafter filed a Notice of Filing in which it attached the underlying documents under seal to supplement the summary judgment record. (R. p. 1099–1869, 1916–21, Notice of Filing.) The documents attached to Starr Davis's supplemental filing included thirty-six policy forms, historical correspondence from Aetna to Starr Davis in which the insurer admitted the existence and limits of many of the policies, and certain other internal Travelers records that Travelers had produced in discovery evidencing the policy numbers, periods, and limits of the remaining Starr Davis policies. (R. pp. 1099–1869, 1916–21, Notice of Filing.)

Travelers thereafter moved for reconsideration, reiterating its opposition arguments. (R. pp. 1870–74, Mtn. for Reconsideration.) Travelers' motion failed to acknowledge the documents that Starr Davis had submitted with its March 4, 2021 Notice of Filing, and again argued that the summary chart exhibits to Starr Davis's motion were inadmissible. (R. p. 1872, Mtn. for Reconsideration at 3.)

Starr Davis opposed Travelers’ motion for reconsideration and argued that, in fact, it had “submitted a substantial amount of evidence” of the policies, that Travelers did not dispute the accuracy of any of the evidence in support of the motion, and that Travelers had submitted no contrary evidence. (R. p. 1876, Opp. to Reconsideration at 2.) Starr Davis also argued that Travelers had failed to explain how further discovery could reasonably be expected to change the outcome of the motion given that all of the material evidence comes from Travelers’ own records. (R. pp. 1877–78, Opp. to Reconsideration at 3–4.) Starr Davis further argued that the Circuit Court correctly determined that any fact issues raised by Travelers were immaterial, and that interpreting policies consistent with prior cases does not mean the order was improperly “based on” those cases. (R. pp. 1878–80, Opp. to Reconsideration at 4–6.)

The Circuit Court denied Travelers’ motion for reconsideration on May 19, 2021. (R. p. 35–37, Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration.) This appeal followed.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Appellate courts review a grant of partial summary judgment de novo. *David v. McLeod Reg’l Med. Ctr.*, 367 S.C. 242, 247, 626 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2006) (“When reviewing an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court applies the same standard as the trial court.”). Summary judgment is appropriate where “there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” Rule 56(c), SCRPC.

Once the party moving for summary judgment meets the initial burden of showing an absence of evidentiary support for the opponent’s case, the opponent cannot simply rest on mere allegations or denials contained in the pleadings. Rather, the nonmoving party must come forward with specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial.

*Regions Bank v. Schmauch*, 354 S.C. 648, 660, 582 S.E.2d 432, 438 (Ct. App. 2003). Chief Justice Toal correctly held that Travelers failed to meet its burden of showing specific facts demonstrating a genuine issue for trial.

This Court reviews whether the Circuit Court erred in finding additional discovery unnecessary for summary judgment under an abuse of discretion standard. *See Robertson v. First Union Nat'l Bank*, 350 S.C. 339, 347, 565 S.E.2d 309, 343 (Ct. App. 2002) (finding “no abuse of discretion in the trial court’s finding that discovery was complete for the purposes of summary judgment”); *Bayle v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 344 S.C. 115, 128, 542 S.E.2d 736, 742 (Ct. App. 2001) (“The rulings of a trial judge in matters involving discovery will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear showing of an abuse of discretion.”).

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY GRANTED PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT**

#### **A. Starr Davis Demonstrated The Existence Of The Policies And Their Terms With Admissible Evidence.**

Travelers does not dispute that it insured Starr Davis for decades, nor does it genuinely dispute that the terms of the Starr Davis policies followed the standard CGL forms. Travelers submitted no evidence that even suggested that Starr Davis had negotiated different policy terms, nor that Starr Davis’s policies were ever subject to any relevant endorsement. Accordingly, based on the evidence before the Circuit Court on Starr Davis’s motion, Chief Justice Toal found “sufficient secondary evidence, including partial or incomplete policies, to provide the existence of a multi-decade relationship between Travelers and Starr Davis.” (R. p. 8, Order at 7.)

As Travelers admits, this evidence includes, at a minimum, the Interim Claims Handling Agreement between Travelers and Starr Davis, which is undisputed evidence of “the existence of the insurance policies” “from 1959 to 1985.” (R. pp. 8, 170, Order at 7; Jan. 25, 2021 Hrg. Tr. at 26:12–14.) It also includes incomplete copies of two standard contemporaneous CGL policies

produced by Travelers. (App. Br. at 11.) And, it also includes significant information about the policies issued to Starr Davis, none of which Travelers has ever disputed.

Despite all this, and despite that Travelers has never actually disputed either the existence or terms of the policies, Travelers' main argument on appeal is that partial summary judgment should be reversed because Starr Davis did not attach certain supporting documents to the coverage charts that it submitted in support of its Motion. (App. Br. at 11–18, 20; R. pp. 662–69, Renewed Supplemental MSJ Exhibits 10–13.) This argument should be summarily rejected. The evidence before the Circuit Court was more than sufficient to conclude as a matter of law that Starr Davis is entitled to coverage and the terms of that coverage, and Travelers has never seriously called that conclusion into question.

Even assuming that the evidence submitted with the original motion were insufficient (it was not), Travelers ignores that on March 4, 2021, Starr Davis filed the underlying documents under seal with the Court. (R. pp. 1099–1869, 1916–21, Notice of Filing.) As Starr Davis's Notice of Filing states, these documents were:

produced by the Travelers Defendants in this action and address the arguments raised at pages 14-18 of their Response in Opposition to Starr Davis' Renewed Motion for Partial Summary Judgment [regarding missing documents] . . . and their supplemental briefing on these arguments.

(R. p. 1100, Notice of Filing at 1 (citations omitted).)

Eight days later, Travelers moved for reconsideration of the Order and argued that the evidence before the Court on the motion for summary judgment was insufficient. (R. p. 1871, Motion for Reconsideration at 2.) When the Circuit Court denied reconsideration on May 19, 2021, the full wealth of evidence supporting Starr Davis's motion had been in the record for over two months—any potential error that could have existed in connection with the evidence before the Court on the original motion is therefore clearly harmless. The Circuit Court reviewed all of

the evidence, including the evidence Travelers contends is missing, evaluated its order on the motion for summary judgment, and decided to adhere to its original ruling.

There is no genuine dispute over the authenticity or admissibility of the documents before the Circuit Court on reconsideration, all of which were produced by Travelers. Nor is there any genuine dispute that these documents are competent evidence of the existence of Starr Davis's policies with Travelers. Travelers does not dispute that Starr Davis identified these documents by bates number before summary judgment, clearly informing the Circuit Court and Travelers of the evidence supporting Starr Davis's summary charts.<sup>1</sup> Indeed, Travelers addressed none of these issues in its Motion for Reconsideration, but instead simply re-asserted that the underlying documents were not before the Court. Any potential error in the Circuit Court's grant of summary judgment was therefore cured upon reconsideration,<sup>2</sup> and Travelers cannot show there is a genuine issue of material fact that warrants reversal.

**B. Travelers Failed To Carry Its Evidentiary Burden.**

After Starr Davis presented substantial evidence of the existence, terms, and conditions of its policies with Travelers between 1946 and 1985, the burden fell on Travelers to produce admissible contrary evidence demonstrating a genuine issue of material fact that precluded summary judgment. *Regions Bank*, 354 S.C.at 660, 582 S.E.2d at 438 (Ct. App. 2003). Travelers failed to do so.

---

<sup>1</sup> For this reason, and because Travelers had ample opportunity to review and address these documents in its Motion for Reconsideration, Travelers was not prejudiced by any lack of opportunity to rebut Starr Davis's arguments based on the documents, which were produced by Travelers.

<sup>2</sup> Moreover, the presence of the underlying documents in the record on Motion for Reconsideration demonstrates that reversal and remand with instructions to reconsider the motion for summary judgment in light of the underlying documents would merely waste judicial resources—the Circuit Court would reach precisely the same decision on remand that it reached on summary judgment.

Travelers argues that Starr Davis’s examples of standard form insurance policies were insufficient to establish the terms of coverage for other policy periods where the specific policies were missing. (App. Br. at 17.) It further asserts that standard policy forms cannot demonstrate the terms of the missing policies and that other endorsements or modifications might have existed for the policies at issue. (*Id.*) Travelers’ arguments are wrong, and the Circuit Court properly rejected them.

*First*, exemplar policies based on standard forms are widely recognized by courts across the country as strong, admissible evidence of the terms of the insured’s other policies. *E.g.*, *Danaher Corp. v. Travelers Indem. Co.*, 414 F. Supp. 3d 436, 464 (S.D.N.Y. 2019) (“[A]bsent any evidence from Travelers sufficient to support any contrary conclusion,” un rebutted specimen policy evidence “may be used to establish, even under the stricter clear and convincing evidentiary standard, that the terms of lost policies would have been the same as those contained in policies from adjacent years or in form policies from the relevant periods.”); *Travelers Indem. Co. v. Rogers Cartage Co.*, 98 N.E.3d 524, 530 (Ill. Ct. App. 2017) (“Travelers has not offered any affirmative evidence to rebut, undercut, or discount Rogers’s evidence that the disputed CGL policies contained the same coverage and endorsements as the bookend policies and specimen policies.”).

There is no genuine dispute that Starr Davis’s policies with Travelers were written using the standard forms. Courts routinely recognize that CGL policies are highly standardized. For example, in *Crossmann*, the South Carolina Supreme Court broadly declared the law of South Carolina in reference to the “standard CGL policy” with language materially identical to the Starr Davis policies. 395 S.C. at 48, 717 S.E.2d at 593 (using the phrase “standard CGL polic[ies]” nine

times, including that the language at issue, “or language that is substantially the same, is typical of a standard CGL policy”).

Similarly, there is no genuine dispute as to whether the policies included other endorsements that could have modified the terms material to this case. To establish such a dispute, Travelers would at least have had to produce evidence that such endorsements existed, which Travelers failed to do. Instead, Travelers merely argues that it was *possible* that such an endorsement *might* exist. (App. Br. at 17.) Unadorned speculation is not admissible evidence and provides no basis to find a disputed issue of material fact. *See* Rule 56(e), SCRPC (“When a motion for summary judgment is made and supported as provided in this rule, an adverse party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of his pleading, but his response, by affidavits or as otherwise provided in this rule, must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. If he does not so respond, summary judgment, if appropriate, shall be entered against him.”).

Travelers had ample opportunity to demonstrate the existence of a material fact issue. That Travelers failed to produce any such evidence is strong evidence that no such documents exist, and is dispositive on summary judgment.

**C. No Choice Of Law Issue Precluded Summary Judgment.**

Travelers argues that summary judgment should have been denied because there *potentially* were material disputed fact issues going to the choice of law that could have been revealed by more fulsome discovery. (App. Br. at 21.) This argument fails for two main reasons.

*First*, Travelers fails to identify any potentially relevant conflict between the law of South Carolina and the law of North Carolina that would require a choice of law analysis. Both below and again on appeal, Travelers fails to identify any potential issue for which a choice of law analysis would even be necessary, let alone how choice of law is relevant to the issues presented

on summary judgment. Where, as here, no conflict of law exists, the law of the forum state applies. *See, e.g.*, Eugene F. Scoles & Peter Hay, *Conflict of Laws* 17 (1984) (“A ‘false conflict’ exists when the potentially applicable laws do not differ[.]”); *Lucker Mfg. v. The Home Ins. Co.*, 23 F.3d 808, 813 (3d Cir. 1994) (“Where there is no difference between the laws of the forum state and those of the foreign jurisdiction, there is a ‘false conflict’ and the court need not decide the choice of law issue.” (quoting *In re Complaint of Bankers Trust Co.*, 752 F.2d 874, 882 (3d Cir. 1993))); *Burnside v. Simpson Paper Co.*, 864 P.2d 937, 942 (Wash. 1994) (explaining that absent conflict the “forum may apply its own law”).

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